IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC00-989

RENEE B.; BARBARA S. HUNTER; TAHARA D. WILSON; PRESIDENTIAL WOMEN'S CENTER, INC.; FLORIDA WOMEN'S MEDICAL CLINIC, INC., d/b/a/: Women's Clinic: AWARE WOMAN MEDICAL CENTER d/b/a/ Manhattan Magnolia Corporation; : AWARE WOMAN HEALTH CENTER d/b/a Magnolia Management and Marketing Group, Inc.; AWARE: **Class Representation** WOMAN CENTER FOR CHOICE, INC.; FEMINIST WOMEN'S HEALTH CENTER IN TALLAHASSEE, INC.; CENTRAL FLORIDA WOMEN'S ORGANIZATION, INC.; RANDALL BROOKS WHITNEY, M.D.; MICHAEL BENJAMIN, M.D.; EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSISTANCE, INC. Plaintiffs-Appellants, VS. STATE OF FLORIDA, AGENCY FOR HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A woman's decision whether to bear a child is a deeply personal matter that fundamentally affects her life and health. The right to make that decision free from state interference lies at the heart of the guarantees of liberty, privacy, bodily integrity, and equality protected by the Florida Constitution. In this action, Plaintiffs-Appellants ["Plaintiffs"]challenge Florida's interference with this right through its Medicaid program, which funds virtually all medically necessary health care *except* for abortions that are necessary to preserve a pregnant woman's health.

Plaintiffs are three individual Medicaid-eligible women who sought medically necessary abortions and who sue on behalf of themselves and a class of similarly situated women, seven reproductive health clinics that provide abortions, two physicians, and a non-profit organization that provides financial assistance to women who cannot afford abortions. R. vol. III, pp. 468-475. Defendant-Appellee, Agency for Health Care Administration ("AHCA"), is the state agency responsible for administering Florida's Medicaid program. R. vol. III, p. 475.

In March 1993, Plaintiffs filed a complaint in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court of Palm Beach County challenging the state regulations that deny Medicaid funding for medically necessary abortions except in the most limited of circumstances.

¹ Those regulations currently prohibit the use of Medicaid funds for abortions except in cases where the pregnancy endangers a woman's life or was caused by rape or incest. Fla. Admin. Code R. 59G-4.150(4)(a)(12); 59G-4.160(4)(a)(5), (b)(3); & 59G-4.230(2). The complaint seeks (1) a declaration that these regulations are unconstitutional and that the state Medicaid program must cover medically necessary abortions; (2) a permanent injunction prohibiting enforcement of the regulations; and (3) reimbursement to the Medicaid-eligible Plaintiffs of wrongfully-withheld Medicaid funds for medically necessary abortions performed during the pendency of this lawsuit. R. vol. III, pp. 491-495.

The Honorable Ronald V. Alvarez heard Plaintiffs' motions for a temporary

¹ Plaintiffs filed several amended complaints, partly as a result of changes in Florida's Medicaid program, including revisions to the challenged regulations and the state agency responsible for administering the program. For example, when the lawsuit was originally filed, Florida's Medicaid program paid for abortions only in instances where the woman's life was endangered. Subsequently, the program extended coverage to instances where the pregnancies were the result of rape or incest.

The most recent complaint is found at R. vol. III, pp. 466-496. Defendant-Appellant's answer is found at R. vol. V, pp. 788-795. After the most recent complaint was filed, one of the named defendants – the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services – was dismissed by stipulation, R. vol. V, pp. 826-831, and one of the challenged regulations – Rule 10M-6.142 of the Florida Administrative Code – was repealed.

injunction and oversaw discovery.² On September 2, 1994, the Honorable Edward H. Fine certified the plaintiff class as:

all women in the State of Florida who (1) are, have been, or will be during the pendency of the litigation pregnant and Medicaid-eligible; (2) have decided or will decide, in consultation with their physicians, to have abortions; and (3) are, have been, or will be denied Medicaid coverage for abortions and related procedures.

R. vol. III, pp. 426-33. The Honorable Richard Wennet transferred the case to the Second Judicial Circuit Court of Leon County. R. vol. IV, pp. 686-689.

On October 9, 1998, the Honorable Terry P. Lewis denied Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment, holding that the challenged regulations did not violate the Florida Constitution. R. vol. VII, pp. 1290-1295. On March 16, 1999, Judge Lewis granted AHCA's motion for summary judgment on the basis of his earlier ruling. R. vol. VII, pp. 1296-1297. Plaintiffs filed a timely notice of appeal on April 1, 1999, R. vol. VII, pp. 1298-1302, and, on April 7, 1999, filed a suggestion with the District Court of Appeal, First District, that this case be heard immediately by this Court. On April 29, 1999, the First District Court of Appeal certified the case to this Court as one of great public importance requiring immediate resolution. On June 29, 1999, this Court declined jurisdiction over the appeal and remanded it to the District Court of Appeal. The District Court of Appeal issued an opinion on April 20, 2000, affirming the trial court's judgment in favor of Defendants. The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal ["Ct. App. Op."] is reproduced at Tab N of Plaintiffs-Appellants' Appendix.

The circuit court had jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Article V, Section 5(b) of the Florida Constitution and Sections 26.012(2)(a) and 86.011 of the Florida Statutes. The District Court of Appeal had jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 4(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution, and this Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(5) of the Florida Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews de novo the grant of summary judgment. *See Tucker v. Resha*, 610 So. 2d 460, 465 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), *remanded on other grounds*, 648 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 1994). Summary judgment is appropriate where "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and the moving party is "entitled"

² The lower court held two hearings on Plaintiffs' motions for a temporary injunction, first on April 15, 1993, and again on June 17, 1993. The lower court denied the first motion because the woman seeking relief obtained an abortion from a physician who volunteered his services, and he denied the second because he concluded that the women seeking relief were not named plaintiffs, did not demonstrate they were unable to find other, non-Medicaid sources of funding for the abortion, and did not demonstrate the medical necessity of the procedure. R. vol. I, pp. 66-68, 147-151.

to a judgment as a matter of law." Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.510(c). *See also Anderson v. Maddox*, 65 So. 2d 299, 300 (Fla. 1953). Where solely legal issues are at stake, summary judgment is proper. *Moore v. Morris*, 475 So. 2d 666, 668 (Fla. 1985); *Aloff v. Neff-Harmon, Inc.*, 463 So. 2d 291, 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Here, Plaintiffs seek review of the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment to AHCA, which was affirmed by the First District Court of Appeal. There are no disputed material facts because AHCA did not submit any evidence rebutting the evidence submitted by the Plaintiffs. Since only legal issues remain, resolution of the case by summary judgment is appropriate. The courts below erred, however, in granting judgment to AHCA, rather than to Plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. THE CHALLENGED FUNDING BAN.

Medicaid is a joint federal-state program designed to provide medical care to the poor. 42 U.S.C. § 1396 *et seq*. While the states develop individual plans for implementing the Medicaid program, the federal government requires the states to provide certain mandatory categories of services and permits the states to provide additional optional services. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(10), 1396d(a). After the states have paid for medical services under their plans, the federal government reimburses them for a portion of those costs. 42 U.S.C. § 1396b. The federal government generally provides reimbursement for all medical services that are provided to eligible individuals and medically necessary. 42 U.S.C. § 1396b(a)(1).

The federal government's reimbursement to the states for Medicaid programs is sharply limited by the Hyde Amendment.

Under the current version of the Hyde Amendment, *federal funds* may only be used to pay for abortions if the pregnancy is the result of rape or incest or if the procedure is necessary to save a woman's life and her life is endangered by a physical disorder, physical injury, or physical illness. Pub. L. No. 105-277, Title V, §§ 508-509 (1998). The Hyde Amendment does not limit the use of *state funds*. *Harris v. McRae*, 448 U.S. 297, 311 n.16 (1980). Thus, the federal Medicaid program allows a state to fund abortions that are not federally reimbursable. Currently, the majority of the states, including Florida itself, permit varying degrees of abortion funding beyond the circumstances of the Hyde Amendment.⁴

³ The "Hyde Amendment" is the name given to language that, since fiscal year 1977, has been inserted annually into federal appropriations bills to limit the circumstances in which federal funding may be used for abortions. The exact language of the Hyde Amendment varies from year to year.

⁴ Three states voluntarily fund all medically necessary abortions for Medicaid recipients. Haw. Admin. Code r. 17-1727-49(c)(7); N.Y. Soc. Serv. Law § 365-a(2), (5)(b), N.Y. Comp. Codes R. & Regs. tit. 18, § 505.2(e); Wash. Rev. Code §§ 9.02.100(4), 9.02.160. Several other states voluntarily provide state

Florida's Medicaid program provides its indigent citizens with virtually all non-experimental, medically necessary health care. §§ 409.902, 409.905, 409.906, Fla. Stat. (1995 & Supp. 1999). "Medically necessary" services are those that are:

- 1. . . . necessary to protect life, to prevent sickness or significant disability, or to alleviate severe pain;
- 2. . . . individualized, specific, and consistent with symptoms or confirmed diagnosis of the illness or injury under treatment, and not in excess of the patient's needs;
- 3. . . . consistent with generally accepted professional medical standards as determined by the Medicaid program, and not experimental or investigational;
- 4. . . . reflective of the level of service that can be safely furnished, and for which no equally effective and more conservative or less costly treatment is available statewide; and
- 5. . . . furnished in a manner not primarily intended for the convenience of the recipient, the recipient's caretaker, or the

Medicaid funding beyond that required by the Hyde Amendment. Maryland voluntarily funds abortions where the fetus is affected by a genetic defect or serious abnormality, or where the continuation of pregnancy could have a serious and adverse affect on the woman's mental or physical health. Md. Regs. Code tit. 10, § 10.09.02.04(G). Virginia funds abortions if the fetus will be born with an incapacitating mental deficiency or physical deformity, Va. Code Ann. § 32.1-92.2, while Iowa funds abortions if the fetus is "physically deformed, mentally deficient, or afflicted with a congenital illness," Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(17). Wisconsin voluntarily funds abortions that are necessary to prevent grave, long-lasting physical health damage due to an existing medical condition. Wis. Stat. § 20.927.

As a result of litigation such as this, fourteen additional states currently provide Medicaid coverage for all medically necessary abortions. *See infra* pp.32-33. A number of other states, including Florida, fund all abortions that are necessary to preserve the life of the woman. For example, by regulation, Florida allows reimbursement for all abortions that are necessary "to save the life of the mother." Fla. Admin. Code R. 59G-4.150(4)(a)(12). By contrast, the current Hyde Amendment permits federal funds to be used only in the narrower instances when a woman's life is endangered by a physical disorder, injury, or illness. Pub. L. No. 105-277, Title V, §§ 508-509 (1998). Florida's regulations contain no such explicit limitation to physical, as opposed to mental or psychological, life endangerment.

provider. Fla. Admin. Code R. 59G-1.010(166)(a).

By statute, Florida's Medicaid program explicitly includes medically necessary care related to pregnancy. § 409.901(8), Fla. Stat. (1995). Accordingly, all in-patient, out-patient and physician services relating to prenatal care and childbirth are covered upon certification by a physician that the services are medically necessary. §§ 409.903(5), 409.905(5), (6), (9), Fla. Stat. (1995 & Supp. 1999).

By regulation, however, AHCA has carved out a special exception to the state's Medicaid program in the case of abortion services. Pursuant to Rules 59G-4.150; 59G-4.160; and 59G-4.230 of the Florida Administration Code, a Medicaid-eligible woman is denied state funding for a medically necessary abortion unless her pregnancy endangers her life or is the result of rape or incest. *See* Fla. Admin. Code R. 59G-4.150 (4)(a)(12) (restricting funding for abortions provided in hospital settings), -4.160 (4)(a)(5), (b)(3) (restricting funding for abortions provided in out-patient hospital facilities), -4.230 (2) (incorporating by reference Florida Medicaid Physician Coverage and Limitations Handbook which restricts funding for abortions provided in physician offices or clinics). For no other medical service does Florida require that the patient's condition be life-threatening or caused by a crime in order to be funded by Medicaid.

II. FOR MANY WOMEN, AN ABORTION IS MEDICALLY NECESSARY.

Pregnancy can cause numerous health problems without being life-threatening. It can cause serious medical conditions, exacerbate pre-existing conditions, and prevent women from obtaining treatment for pre-existing conditions. *See generally* R. vol. V, pp. 879-889, 932-946. For women who are young or have substance abuse problems, these risks are heightened. R. vol. V, pp. 939-940, 944.

In Florida, more than 7,000 pregnant, Medicaid-eligible women a year, like the individual women Plaintiffs, have pregnancy related complications or medical conditions that, combined with pregnancy, pose significant risks to their health. R. vol. V, p. 914. For these women, abortion is a vital and necessary treatment option that their physicians should be able to discuss with them and provide where appropriate. R. vol. V, pp. 944-945.

The individual women who provided testimony in this case all suffer from

⁵ See also Orlando Gen. Hosp. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Servs., 567 So. 2d 962 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (medically necessary in-patient hospital services are those "reasonably calculated to prevent, diagnose, correct, cure, alleviate, or prevent deterioration of condition threatening life, causing pain or suffering, or resulting in illness or infirmity"); Fla. Admin. Code R. 59G-4.160(1)(c) (out-patient hospital services are covered when they are "preventative, diagnostic, therapeutic, rehabilitative, or palliative").

conditions that significantly increase the risks that pregnancy poses to their health. Each of the women was Medicaid-eligible at the time she sought an abortion that was necessary to preserve her health. Despite the medical risks the women were facing, the Florida Medicaid program would not cover those abortions. The circumstances of these Plaintiffs is as follows:

Barbara S. Hunter (who originally appeared in this action under the pseudonym Anne Moe) has Grave's Disease and was addicted to illegal substances when she became pregnant. Hunter's illness required immediate radio-iodine treatment. Since the treatment would harm her fetus, Hunter had to stop her treatments for the duration of her pregnancy. R. vol. V, pp. 959-960.

Renee B. began hemorrhaging during her pregnancy. She admitted herself to the emergency room several times. At the emergency room, she underwent a very painful treatment in order to get the bleeding under control. The pregnancy also caused her to have high blood sugar. Diabetes runs in her family. She was advised to confine herself to her home, keep off her feet, and change her diet during her pregnancy. R. vol. VI, pp. 1019-1022.

Jane and Mary Youth became pregnant at such young ages, 13 and 14 respectively, that their pregnancies presented risks to their health. R. vol. VI, pp. 1039, 1055. Young adolescents have high-risk pregnancies and often suffer from physical, social, and economic problems. R. vol. V, pp. 939-940.

As the provider Plaintiffs have demonstrated, the experiences of these four women are not unique. Dr. Randall Brooks Whitney sees numerous patients who are Medicaid-eligible. His patients seek abortions for many different reasons, including physical and mental health conditions and fetal abnormalities. Often, his patients have several reasons for terminating their pregnancies. R. vol. VI, p. 1012.

Approximately 15% of the patients at Aware Woman Center for Choice are Medicaid-eligible. Some of those patients seek medically necessary abortions. For example, the clinic worked with one woman who was 33 years old, was the mother of several children, and was in very fragile health. She was HIV positive, schizophrenic, and had a history of heart attacks. Because of the patient's numerous health complications and because of the weakened condition of her uterus due to past pregnancies, Aware Woman Center for Choice was unable to perform the procedure in its facilities. Despite that patient's desperate medical need for an abortion, Florida's Medicaid program would not cover an abortion for her. R. vol. V, pp. 962-963.

The Presidential Women's Center in West Palm Beach also has many Medicaid-eligible patients for whom carrying a pregnancy to term would be highly risky. For example, the clinic often receives referrals from physicians who have determined that a patient's high blood pressure prevents her from safely carrying a pregnancy to term. Some of the Center's other patients suffer from cancer, lupus, or debilitating orthopedic problems which make an abortion medically indicated. Because these conditions, which pose great health risks, are not life-threatening, these patients receive no Medicaid funding to terminate their pregnancies. R. vol. V, p. 954.

Palm Beach County's high incidence of HIV and AIDS infection is also reflected in Presidential Women's Center's patient population. An HIV positive woman may jeopardize her already compromised immune system by carrying a pregnancy to term. She cannot receive Medicaid funding for a medically necessary abortion to spare her fragile health, however, because the pregnancy itself is not life-threatening. R. vol. V, p. 954.

In addition to the specific cases just described, various other medical conditions also pose significant health risks during pregnancy. For example, pregnancy can actually cause some health conditions, such as diabetes, that require medical attention. Pregnancy-induced diabetes occurs in approximately 1-3% of pregnancies. Diabetes has a number of adverse effects on the pregnant woman: it causes a fourfold increase in the likelihood of hypertensive disease; it increases the incidence and severity of infection; it increases the incidence of injury to the birth canal during vaginal delivery; it necessitates delivery by cesarean sections more frequently; and it makes hemorrhage after delivery more common. R. vol. V, pp. 936-937.

For other women, pregnancy worsens existing serious conditions. For example, women already suffering from diabetes are at greater risk during pregnancy. Their pregnancies may cause the rapid degeneration associated with nephropathy or proliferative retinopathy which can result in permanent visual abnormalities or blindness. Such women are also at greater risk of leg edema, preeclampsia, infection, and having a fetus with congenital abnormalities. R. vol. V, pp. 936-937.

Women with renal disease associated with diabetes or lupus may experience an exacerbation of that condition if they become pregnant, especially if prepregnancy renal function is substantially impaired. For those patients who have undergone a renal transplant, the stress on the transplanted organ caused by pregnancy may lead to diminished functioning. The risk of fetal mortality is also increased. R. vol. V, pp. 937-938.

For women with sickle cell anemia, pregnancy frequently accelerates the clinical course of the condition. Pregnant women with sickle cell anemia experience more frequent and more severe crises (especially in the bones), infections such as pneumonia and urinary tract infections, increasingly severe anemia, congestive heart failure, and pulmonary complications such as embolus. In addition, pre-eclampsia is seen in as many as one-third of pregnant women with sickle cell disease. R. vol. V, p. 938.

Women with acquired or congenital heart disease are also at greater risk during pregnancy. During pregnancy, a woman normally undergoes increased cardiac output, tachycardia, and fluid retention. These characteristics of pregnancy frequently cause deterioration in the condition of women with cardiac lesions. One percent of all pregnant woman suffer from heart disease, and it is the most common non-obstetrical cause of maternal mortality. R. vol. V, pp. 935-936.

In addition to exacerbating pre-existing medical conditions, pregnancy can also interfere with treatments for some medical problems. The anti-coagulants frequently taken by women with prosthetic heart valves may cause abnormal fetal

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