IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RENEE B.; BARBARA S. HUNTER; TAHARA D. WILSON; PRESIDENTIAL WOMEN'S CENTER, INC.; FLORIDA WOMEN'S MEDICAL CLINIC, INC., d/b/a Women's Clinic; AWARE WOMAN MEDICAL CENTER, d/b/a Manhattan Magnolia Corporation; AWARE WOMAN CENTER FOR CHOICE, INC.; FEMINIST WOMEN'S HEALTH CENTER IN TALLAHASSEE, INC.; CENTRAL FLORIDA WOMEN'S ORGANIZATION, INC.; RANDALL BROOKS WHITNEY, M.D.; MICHAEL BENJAMIN, M.D.; EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSISTANCE, INC.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

CASE NO. SC00-989

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, AGENCY FOR HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION,

| Defendant-Appellee. |
|---------------------|
| |

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no constitutional right to abortion. The constitutional right to privacy extends its protection only as far as the right of a woman to decide that she wants an abortion. By protecting the right to choice, the constitution does not also guarantee that the woman choosing to have an abortion will be able to obtain one.

Administrative regulations promulgated by AHCA regarding Medicaid reimbursement for abortions mirror the federal Hyde Amendment. The regulations provide that Medicaid will pay for abortions in cases where the mother's life is in danger, or where the pregnancy is the result of rape or incest. The regulations regulate Medicaid funding, not abortions. Medicaid does not fund all medically necessary abortions. As a threshold matter, these regulations do not violate the right to privacy because they do not amount to governmental intrusion into a person's private life. By funding some, but not all, abortions, the Medicaid program does not intrude into a woman's decision to have an abortion, it just may not pay for it. Neither is reimbursement by Medicaid for health care costs of pregnancy and childbirth an unconstitutional coercion of a woman's right to choose. No new restrictions on obtaining an abortion are created by such funding that were not already extant. Again, this is not governmental intrusion, because there is no direct intervention into the woman's right to choose. Because the

regulations do not violate the right to privacy, the burden does not shift to the state to show a compelling interest.

The "bodily integrity" cases that recognize a privacy right in a patient's decision to forego medical treatment cannot be extended to the case at hand.

Those cases turned on the issue of whether the state's compelling interest in preserving life outweighed the patient's right to refuse medical treatment when that treatment was merely prolonging the individual's death. Abortion is the only medical procedure that is the affirmative termination of a potential life, and thus does not conform to the analysis of the bodily integrity line of cases.

The challenged regulations do not diminish equal protection rights. No fundamental right is impinged, and no suspect class is involved. The recent amendment to Article I, Section 2 does not call for heightened review. The state's decision to fund childbirth, and to fund only those abortions necessary to save the mother's life, is rationally related to the state's interest in preserving life. United States Supreme Court decisions have firmly established that the Hyde Amendment, to which the challenged regulations are identical, does not violate equal protection or privacy rights of the federal constitution. Similarly, state statutes limiting funding for medically necessary abortions have been upheld by the United States Supreme Court. Because Florida and federal equal protection provisions are essentially the same, federal decisions should control on this issue.

Sovereign immunity prohibits the appellants' demand for reimbursement for money paid to obtain abortions. The state has not waived its sovereign immunity from suit in this instance. The appellants' claim is nothing more than a claim for damages, and cannot be successfully recharacterized to remove it from the sovereign immunity preclusion.

The separation of powers doctrine provides additional grounds for affirmance. The appellants wish the court to order the Medicaid program to pay for medically necessary abortions. However, the appropriation of funds for Medicaid services is solely within the power of the Legislature. Under Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution, the judicial branch may not make appropriations decisions, and thus the remedy sought by the appellants is not available under the Constitution.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO ABORTION

At the outset, it must be acknowledged that Florida's Constitution does not guarantee the right to obtain an abortion. Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution provides:

Right of privacy. — Every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life except as otherwise provided herein. This section shall not be construed to limit the public's right of access to public records and meetings as provided by law.

This Court has ruled that this right to privacy encompasses a woman's right to choose to have an abortion. <u>In re T.W.</u>, 551 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1989). The right to *choose* to have an abortion is not the same thing as the right to an abortion <u>per se</u>. Neither the plain language of the constitution nor the Court's interpretation of that language guarantees the right to an abortion. The challenged regulations do not interfere with the privacy guarantee of the right to choose.

THE CHALLENGED RULES DO NOT INFRINGE ON THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY

Circuit Judge Lewis struck to the core of the issue in deciding that the Medicaid regulations governing funding of abortions did not impinge on the right to choose. R. vol. VII, p. 1294. The regulations place no obstacles in the decisional path of a woman's right to choose to have an abortion that did not already exist. There is no governmental intrusion. In the absence of Medicaid and its myriad regulations, indigent women still would be faced with the prospect of not being able to afford to pay for an abortion. To the extent their choice may be hindered, it is not hindered by these funding regulations, but by the women's poverty, which was not created by the State.

Thus, this case is not akin to In re T.W., 551 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1989) or State v. Presidential Women's Center, 707 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). In those cases, the courts acknowledged that Florida's right to privacy protected a

woman's right to choose an abortion. In <u>T.W.</u>, the challenged statute required parental consent before a minor could obtain an abortion. In <u>Presidential Women's Center</u>, the "Women's Right to Know Act" required a woman to undergo counseling prior to obtaining an abortion. In both cases, the State had added an extra step directly into the process of a woman's decision on her right to choose.

No such intrusion exists here.¹

THE CHALLENGED REGULATIONS DO NOT IMPOSE ADDITIONAL ECONOMIC BURDENS.

Accordingly, the appellants' strained argument at pages 28 through 30 of their brief that "the challenged regulations thus force many Medicaid eligible women to delay a wanted abortion or carry their pregnancies to term" is plainly wrong. The regulations do not impose additional expenses or subtract from income.

Additionally, the appellants miscite and misconstrue certain statutes, and make statements of fact that do not appear to be in the record. For example:

"A single pregnant woman is only eligible if she earns less than \$278 a week. *See* \$409.903(5), Fla. Stat. (1995 & Supp. 1999); R.vol. V, p. 916." Brief of Appellants ("Brief"), p. 27. The \$278 figure is established nowhere in the record. Neither do the cited statutes establish that figure.

¹ AHCA does not dispute that Florida's right to privacy is more explicit than the federal right to privacy. AHCA does dispute that the right is at all adversely affected in this case.

"Many Medicaid-eligible women . . . are . . . likely to be eligible for Florida's cash assistance program. See §414.085(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1999). A single woman in this program receives a maximum of \$45 a week to pay for housing and other non-food necessities. *See* §414.095(11), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1999). . . . A woman with a dependent child and no other source of income receives a maximum of \$60 a week to care for herself and her child. *See* §414.095(11), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1999)."

Brief, p. 28. Once again, the dollar figures are not in the facts of record, and the cited statutes do not support these claims.

This entire argument is speculative, as is appellants' conclusion that a woman on cash assistance may lose benefits trying to raise funds for an abortion. Brief, p. 30. Nothing in the record indicates that the named plaintiffs had their welfare subsidies threatened, even though they all were able to obtain abortions. T57. Further, appellants presented no evidence or facts regarding the workings of the State's cash assistance program in the lower court, and never raised this legal argument at the trial court level. It may not be made for the first time on appeal. See Perez v. Winn–Dixie, 639 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). It would be highly prejudicial to the appellee if the Court were to consider this portion of the Brief, as it is dependent upon factual proof not attempted by the appellants in the circuit court.

B. THE EXERCISE OF RIGHTS IS NOT COERCED.

Appellants concede that there is no right either to public assistance or to funding of abortion on demand. Brief, p. 22. This concession belies appellants'

argument that the Medicaid funding of childbirth and not abortion somehow coerces a woman's choice. If there is no right to public funding in the first place, then not funding certain abortions interferes with nothing. If the State funded neither childbirth nor abortions, the pregnant indigent woman seeking abortion would be in the same position as she is now. To say that, because funding for childbirth is available, a woman will choose to carry to term simply to receive that funding, even though she risks her health to do so, does not make good sense. As the dissent in Hope v. Perales, 595 N.Y.S. 2d 948 (N.Y. App. Div. 1993), reversed 634 N.E. 2d 183 (N.Y. 1994), recognized:

The decision to have a child is one laden with tremendous personal and economic consequence. It would not be rational to suppose that a woman not otherwise disposed to do so, would undertake to bear the considerable risks and discomforts of pregnancy and enormous ensuing responsibilities of parenthood simply because the government had offered to pay for some of the medical costs occasioned by the pregnancy. This is particularly true of the women for whom the entitlement to a government funded abortion is here at issue, for these women have, by hypothesis, been advised that an abortion is medically necessary. Obviously, the government's offer to fund the continuation of pregnancy cannot, under such circumstances[,] be regarded as an "inducement." One does not embrace serious and in some cases life threatening health risks simply to obtain a subsidy, particularly where, as here, the need for the subsidy can be eliminated along with the risk by following medical advice.

² On reversal, the Court of Appeals noted that there was no evidence that eligible women were "coerced, pressured, steered or induced" by the prenatal care assistance program to carry their pregnancies to term. <u>Hope v. Perales</u>, 634 N.E. 2d 183, 187 (N.Y. 1994).

Hope at 956-57.

To the extent the funding of childbirth may have some impact on the decision to carry out the pregnancy, the effect is not unconstitutional. The opinion of the Michigan Supreme Court in <u>Doe v. Department of Social Services</u>, 487 N.W. 2d 166, 178 (Mich. 1992) is illustrative:

The state's election to subsidize childbirth does not coerce a woman into forfeiting her right to choose an abortion any more than the state's election to subsidize public schools coerces parents into forfeiting their right to send their children to private schools. [Citation omitted.] As with the decision to fund public schools, the state may have made childbirth a more attractive option by paying for it, but it has imposed no restriction on obtaining an abortion that was not already there.

The weaknesses in the coercion argument are illuminated by the insightful comments of the New York and Michigan courts. The studies cited by the appellants show that only 18 to 23% of Medicaid-eligible women who desire an abortion actually carry to term in states that do not fund abortions.³ This means that approximately four out of five indigent pregnant women who would choose abortions had they been publicly funded still get abortions without the public subsidy. All the named plaintiffs in this case received abortions. T57. Thus,

⁻

³ There is no indication in the record that these studies are specific to abortions that are medically indicated, or that the abortions were desired in order to preserve the mother's health.

appellants' own proof provides little support for their coercion theory.

Although appellants raise the statistic that thirteen out of eighteen state courts that have considered abortion funding cases identical to this one have struck down funding bans, the statistic is superficial and misleading.⁴ Of the state courts of final jurisdiction that have considered the issue, six (California, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey, New Mexico and West Virginia) have ruled in favor of abortion funding advocates. Four (Michigan, New York, North Carolina and Pennsylvania) have ruled in favor of the state. Five of the thirteen decisions (Connecticut, Idaho, Illinois, Montana and Vermont) were unappealed or unreviewed trial court decisions. In the Connecticut, Montana and Vermont decisions, the courts based their judgments on grounds that the regulations were not authorized by statute; those decisions did not rely on constitutional grounds.

The appellants also maintain that all the states whose constitutions offer a greater right of privacy than does the federal constitution have struck down regulations such as Florida's. This is not accurate. In <u>Doe v. Childers</u>, No. 94CI02183, slip op. (Ky. Cir. Ct. Aug. 3, 1995), the court held that Kentucky's constitution afforded a greater right of privacy, but nevertheless upheld the nonfunding of abortions. Other cases relied on by the appellants are distinguishable.

⁴ All the state court decisions are cited at pages 32 and 33 of the appellants' brief, and are reproduced in Appellants' appendix, so are not reiterated here.

The Illinois case, <u>Doe v. Wright</u>, No. 7851112 (Ill. Cir. Ct. Dec. 2, 1994) is nothing but a single-page handwritten order that contains no reference to the Illinois right of privacy. The Alaska decision, Planned Parenthood v. Perdue, No. 3AN 98-7004 CI, slip op. (Alaska Super. Ct. Mar. 16, 1999), is not analogous. It is founded on the court's finding that Alaska's constitution, unlike Florida's, guarantees the right to abortion, not just the right to choose. Perdue at 9. The Montana case, Jeannette R. v. Ellery, No. BDV-94-811, slip op. (Mont. Dist. Ct. May 22, 1995) is a trial court ruling on cross motions for summary judgment. The language of Montana's privacy clause is broader than Florida's, allowing for a broader construction: "The right of individual privacy is essential to the wellbeing of a free society and shall not be infringed without the showing of a compelling state interest." <u>Jeannette R.</u> at 15. In the California case, <u>Committee</u> to Defend Reproductive Rights v. Myers, 625 P.2d 779 (Cal. 1981), the court was bound by precedent that required it to specially scrutinize government benefit programs, even if no new obstacle to exercise of the constitutional right was created. Id. at 781. Thus the weight of authority among other states' decisions is hardly overwhelming, and ought not direct the decision of this Court.

The principle of "neutrality" underlying some of the decisions favoring abortion funding (this principle is related to the coercion argument discussed above), that state governments must act neutrally when funding protected rights, is

flawed. It assumes that the funding of one woman's childbirth results in an infringement upon the privacy-protected decision of another woman to have an abortion. This "cause and effect" assumption does not connect logically. The encouragement of one alternative does not automatically result in the discouragement of another, especially where, as here, circumstances have not changed for the latter alternative. Any indirect effect the funding of pregnancy and childbirth may have on an indigent woman's decision to undergo abortion does not violate her right to privacy. This is confirmed by a close look at our right to privacy.

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